IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 81,799

THIRD DCA CASE NO.: 92-1237

CIRCUIT COURT CASE NO.: 91-36468

HALLEGERE (HALL) MURTHY, et al.,
Petitioners,

vs.

NIRANJAN N. SINHA, etc., et al., Respondents.

AN APPEAL FROM A DECISION OF THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA, THIRD DISTRICT

CERTIFYING A QUESTION
(F. R. APP. P. 9.030 (a)(2)(A)(vi))

PETITIONERS' BRIEF ON MERITS

Law Offices of
DAMODAR S. AIRAN, PhD*, LLM
AIRAN and ASSOCIATES, P.A.
275 S.W. 13 Street (Coral Way)
Miami, Florida 33130
(305) 860-0034
FLORIDA BAR NO. 405825
* Civil/Environmental Engineering

CASE NO. 81,799 PAGE NO. ii

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This Appeal is pursuant to a question certified by the District Court of Appeal of Florida, Third District (hereinafter "Third DCA") due to a conflict created by its decision in this case and in Finkle v. Mayerchak, 578 so. 2d 396, (Fla. 3d DCA 1991) with the decisions of the First, Second, Fourth, and Fifth Districts in Florida. Gatwood v. McGee, 475 So. 2d 720 at 723 (Fla. 1st DCA 1985); Hunt v. Department of Professional Regulation, Constr. Ind. Lic. Bd., 444 So. 2d 997 (Fla. 1st DCA 1983); Alles v. Department of Professional Regulation, Construction Industry Licensing Board, 423 So. 2d 624 (Fla. 5th DCA, 1982); also Mitchell et al. v. Edge et al., 598 So. 2d 125 (Fla. 2d DCA 1992)(Hall, J., concurring); and Edlin Construction Co. v. Groh, 522 So. 2d 1001 (Fla. 4th DCA 1988). The Third DCA's decision in this case denied Petitioners (Appellants below) a cause of action against the qualifying agent of a construction corporation for violations of the State Minimum Building Codes (F.S. § 553) and for filing a fraudulent lien (F.S. § 713) against the Petitioners. While the Third DCA agreed that Petitioners had stated a cause of action against the contractor, individually, for common law negligence, the Third DCA affirmed in part the trial Court's dismissal of Petitioners' above mentioned claims based on the following principle:

"...this Court has determined that neither section 489.119 nor 489.129, the regulatory and penal statutes, respectively, of chapter 489 creates a

private cause of action against qualifying agents individually... The contractor cannot be held personally liable under the construction contract in this case because the contract is between the owners and the construction corporation, Murthy v. N. Sinha Corp., 618 So. 2d 307 at 309 (Fla. 3d DCA 1993).

However, the Third DCA noted the conflict created by its decision with the other districts in the State of Florida and certified the following question to This Court:

DOES CHAPTER 489, FLORIDA STATUTES (1991), THE LICENSING AND REGULATORY CHAPTER GOVERNING CONSTRUCTION CONTRACTING, CREATE A PRIVATE CAUSE OF ACTION AGAINST THE INDIVIDUAL QUALIFIER FOR A CORPORATION ACTING AS A GENERAL CONTRACTOR?

Accordingly, the Petitioner seeks an answer from the Supreme Court of Florida to the certified question as per Fla. R. App. P. 9.030(a)(2)(A)(vi). This Court has discretionary jurisdiction in this case as it is of great public importance. Petitioners assert 89, 119 and 489.129 Fla. Stats do create a private cause of action against Contractors. Contractors must be held responsible and accountable for the consequences of their negligent actions. This has become patently obvious after the Hurricane Andrew disaster which was caused in large part by the unscrupulous construction work before the storm and compounded by so many contractors after the storm.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The Petitioners, Hallegere Murthy and his wife (hereinafter "Petitioners" or "Owners") entered into negotiations with Respondent Niranjan N. Sinha (hereinafter "Contractor") for additions and improvements to their home. The Contractor prepared a contract in the name of his construction corporation, N. Sinha Corp., (hereinafter "Sinha Corp." or "Corporation") of which he was the President, sole director, sole stockholder and the qualifying agent pursuant to Section 489.119, Florida Statutes. The Owners knew the Contractor socially, dealt with him exclusively for all negotiations, and relied on him for performance.

During the course of construction, the Owners noted many construction defects and Building Code violations. Consequently, the Owners requested the Contractor to rectify the defects. The Contractor refused to make any repairs, and, instead, asked for an additional payment which was not yet due.

Under the Contract, the Contractor could not require a payment before the completion of a pre defined phase unless it was mutually agreed by both parties. The Contractor had already collected 63% of the contract amount for only 30 to 40% of the work completed. The Contractor asked the Owners for an additional payment of \$21,573.50 for Phase III without having completed that phase. The Owners requested the Contractor to complete the Phase III work and

to satisfy the county building code requirements before any additional Phase III payments could be made. The Contractor refused to correct the defects, abandoned the project, and filed a Claim of lien for an invoice of \$28,010.57 which was not due until after the completion of Phase III.

As a result of the defective work and code violations committed by the contractor, the Dade county Building and Zoning Department cited and red-tagged the Owners' home for building code violations. The Owners had to spend substantial additional monies, in excess of the contract amount, in correcting the building code violations and completing the project.

Initially, the Owners filed an action against Sinha Corp. and the Contractor. Thereafter, Sinha Corp proceeded to foreclose its mechanic's lien against the Owners' property along with a claim for breach of contract. The Owners dismissed their own action, counterclaimed under Sinha Corp.'s action and filed a third party claim against the contractor individually since he was the real wrongdoer. The Trial Court held that the personal injury suffered by Mrs. Murthy was not enough to meet the economic loss rule and Owners' claim against the Contractor under the negligence. Therefore, the Owners tried to follow Mills v. Krauss, 114 So. 2d 817 (Fla. 2d DCA 1959) and filed on amended third party complaint against the Contractor based on negligent Performance of Contract along with a claim for violations of State Minimum Building Codes and for filing a fraudulent lien. The Trial Court

again dismissed the Owners' third party complaint completely. The Third DCA recognized the Owners' claim against the individual contractor under common-law negligence based on property damage and personal injury suffered by one of the owners due to Contractor's negligence. However, Third DCA did not find the Contractor liable for any statutory violations noting that he was not a party to the contract and concluded that Florida's regulatory and penal statutes \$489.119 and \$489.129 do not create a private cause of action even when the individual contractor breached his statutorily imposed duties. The Third DCA noted the conflict of their decision in this case with decisions from the first and fifth districts and certified a question to this Court. The Owners filed this appeal to request this Court to review the question certified by the Third DCA and the related decision.

QUESTION CERTIFIED

DOES CHAPTER 489, FLORIDA STATUTES (1991), THE LICENSING AND REGULATORY CHAPTER GOVERNING CONSTRUCTION CONTRACTING, CREATE A PRIVATE CAUSE OF ACTION AGAINST THE INDIVIDUAL QUALIFIER FOR A CORPORATION ACTING AS A GENERAL CONTRACTOR?

ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL

- 1. Does a homeowner have a cause of action against the qualifying agent (the real wrongdoer) of a construction corporation who failed to supervise the construction and caused damages to the homeowner, or, does the homeowner have to be satisfied with a potentially uncollectible judgment against the construction corporation only?
- 2. Does Chapter 489, Florida Statutes, impose certain duties upon the designated qualifying agent for a construction project, for the benefit of the homeowners, who are parties to a construction contract?
- 3. If Chapter 489 of Florida Statutes does impose a duty upon the designated qualifying agent, then, does the protected class have any power, by implication, to enforce the performance of such duty?
- 4. If Chapter 489 does create a cause of action against a qualifying agent, does that cause of action constitute negligence per se because (1) Chapter 489 is a penal statute, (2) Chapter 489 carries strict liability, as it imposes a duty upon the qualifying agent for protection of those parties to a construction contract who are incapable of protecting themselves, and (3) Chapter 489 protects the parties to a construction contract (particular a group of people) from a particular harm as a consequence of shoddy construction or

AIRAW and Associates, P.A., 275 S.W. 13 Street (Coral Way), Miami, Florida 33130 (305) 860-0034

CASE NO. 81,799 PAGE NO. 7

negligent financial management by the contractor?

Does an action against the qualifying agent, authorized under other statutory provisions, or theories of law, depend on the availability of a private cause of action under Chapter 489, Florida Statutes?

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

I. Florida Statutes §489.119 requires every construction corporation to be registered under a qualifying agent's general contractor's license. Florida Statutes §489.1195 makes every qualifying agent of a corporation jointly and severally responsible for supervision of all operations of the construction business. Florida Statutes §489.129 provides the Construction Industry Licensing Board power to discipline a contractor in the event of statutory violations.

Florida District Courts of Appeal for First, second, fourth and fifth Districts have held qualifying agents liable for their failure to supervise, a duty imposed by Section 489.1195. The very purpose of Chapter 489 of Florida Statuta is to make sure that only licensed persons undertake construction. That is why the Statute forbids a corporation to enter into a construction contract without a qualifying agent to supervise the project. Hence, to allow a contractor to be the qualifying agent for a corporation, without holding him responsible for his duty under the Statute, would defeat the very purpose of the statute.

Under Florida law, whenever a Statute, or an ordinance, requires an act to be done, or not to be done, for the benefit of another, then, by implication, that Statute carries with it each and every power necessary to enforce the performance of

such duty. See Girard Trust Co. v. Tampashores Development Co., 117 So 786 at 788, 95 Fla 1010 at 1015, (Fla. 1928). Similarly, Florida Statutes Chapter 489 also requires a qualifying agent to supervise the construction and business operations of a project so as to protect the consumers. Therefore, by implication, Chapter 489 also creates a private cause of action against the qualifying agent.

As per <u>deJesus v. Seaboard Coastline Railroad</u>, 281 So. 2d 198, 201 (Fla. 1973), Statutory Violation of Chapter 489 creates a private cause of action which constitutes negligence per se because, the Statute is regulatory and penal in nature, imposes duty upon a qualifying agent for protection of the homeowners and others like them who are incapable to protect themselves, and the purpose of the Statute is to protect a particular class of persons (the homeowners and others like them) from a particular harm.

II. It would be a better public policy to allow a private cause of action under Chapter 489, Florida Statutes, to homeowners and others like them. During Hurricane Andrew, thousands of people suffered due to defective workmanship of General Contractors. After the hurricane, it has become even worse. Many unscrupulous contractors have taken substantial advances under their corporation's construction contracts with homeowners, have done shoddy construction or no construction, and have then abandoned the projects. As per the current

interpretation of Florida law by the Third DCA, Homeowners do not have any right of action against such unscrupulous contractors under (1) breach of contract (contractor is not a party to the contract), or (2) common law negligence (the only damage caused, most of the time, is to the home under the contract - economic loss rule applies) or (3) statutory violations (Third DCA is of the opinion that Chapter 489 governing construction contracting does not create a private right of action). Thus the only recourse the homeowners have against the contractor is to obtain а potentially uncollectible judgment against the contractor's corporation. Therefore, This Court needs to recognize the wrong and provide for a remedy.

It is to be noted that granting a private right of action against the Contractor would not result into a surge of additional actions. This is because actions against the corporations would be filed anyway. A cause of action against the Contractor would enable the owners to name an additional party defendant, the qualifying agent. Furthermore, such decision would not have a significant affect on the availability of qualifying agents, as appropriate bonds for the performance of qualifying agents or indemnity agreements would reduce their exposure for major commercial projects.

Therefore, in order to provide the protection that Chapter 489 intended to bestow upon the homeowners and others

CASE NO. 81,799 PAGE NO. 11

like them, this Court should answer the certified question in the "affirmative".

III. Petitioners further contend that violations of Florida Statutes §713 (Mechanic's Liens) and §553 (Building Construction Standards) do grant a private right of action against a wrongdoer in express terms. It is undisputed that Chapter 489 does impose a duty upon a qualifying agent. Therefore, a claim for statutory violations against the qualifying agent available under §553 and §713 should not be denied regardless of the availability of a private cause of action under Chapter 489.

ARGUMENTS

I. CHAPTER 489, FLORIDA STATUTES (1988 as amended in 1991), THE LICENSING, REGULATORY, AND PENAL CHAPTER GOVERNING CONSTRUCTION CONTRACTING, DOES CREATE A PRIVATE CAUSE OF ACTION AGAINST THE INDIVIDUAL QUALIFIER OF A CORPORATION ACTING AS A GENERAL CONTRACTOR.

Florida Statute §489.119 requires every construction corporation to be registered under a qualifying agent's license as a general contractor. Florida Statute §489.129 provides the Construction Industry Licensing Board certain powers to discipline a contractor in the event of statutory violations.

In 1988, the legislature had codified the prevailing case law and specifically imposed a duty to supervise on the qualifying agent of a corporation pursuant to section 489.1195, Florida Statutes. Section 489.1195 makes every qualifying agent of a corporation jointly and severally responsible for supervision of all operations of the construction business. Florida Statute \$489.1195(1) states that:

"....All primary qualifying agents for a business organization are jointly and equally responsible for supervision of all operations of the business organization; for all field work at all sites; and for financial matters, both for the organization in general and for each specific job." § 489.1195(1), Fla. Stat. (1988) and (1991).

With the Statute having the effect of essentially lifting the corporate veil, a qualifying agent should be held personally liable

for the construction defects and statutory violations caused by the qualifying agent's failure to exercise due care in supervising a construction project. However, the Third DCA has not held a qualifying agent liable for such violations while other Districts in Florida have.

A. Other Districts in Florida are in conflict with the Third DCA's denial of a private cause of action against a qualifying agent under Section 489.1195, Florida Statutes.

Florida's First, Second, Fourth and Fifth Districts have properly recognized a duty imposed on a contractor by 489.119 to supervise any construction undertaken. Even before the 1988 and 1991 amendments and additions to 489, the Court in Alles v. Department of Professional Regulation, Construction Industry Licensing Board, 423 So. 2d 624 (Fla. 5th DCA, 1982), the Fifth DCA had found a qualifying agent responsible for the supervision of construction. Similarly, in Gatwood v. McGee, 475 So. 2d 720 at 723 (Fla. 1st DCA 1985), the First DCA stated:

"We hold that the negligent performance of the qualifying agent's statutorily imposed duty of supervision may support a cause of action for damages sustained by subsequent purchasers... We further hold that the qualifying agent's duty of supervision is nondelegable in the sense that the agent will not be allowed to evade responsibility for negligent supervision by relying on one who, even though apparently a competent builder, has not been certified as a qualifying agent pursuant to Chapter 489 (emphasis added) ." Gatwood v. McGee, 475 So. 2d 720 at 723 (Fla.1st DCA 1985),

The Second DCA in Montgomery v. Chamberlain, 543 So. 2d 234 (Fla. 2d DCA 1989), would have allowed an action even for the breach of implied warranty against a qualifying agent based on Gatwood v. McGee, Supra. Again in Mitchell et al. v. Edge et al., 598 So. 2d 125 (Fla. 2d DCA 1992), the Second DCA allowed a consecutive action for failure to supervise against the qualifying agent of a corporation. In Edlin Construction Co. v. Groh, 522 So. 2d 1001 (Fla. 4th DCA 1988), the Fourth DCA also allowed a private cause of action against a qualifying agent.

Thus, four out of five District Courts of Appeal (DCAs) in Florida have recognized a private cause of action against a qualifying agent. The Owners pray this Honorable Court to uphold the abovementioned decisions of the First, Second, Fourth and Fifth District Courts of Appeal by finding a qualifying agent responsible to those protected by the Statute for a statutory violation.

B. The legislative purpose behind Chapter 489, Florida Statutes (1991) is to Protect a Particular Class of persons from a particular injury as they are not able to protect themselves.

Petitioners request this Court to review the legislative purpose of Chapter 489 in order to answer the question certified by the Third DCA.

An examination of the legislative intent behind Chapter 489 (1988, which remained to be the basis of unchanged parts of the 1991 Statute) reveals that the obvious purpose of Chapter 489 is to "financially protect" the public with a long range goal to "provide

improved protection" to the class of people to be protected by this Statute, See App. 1, House of Representatives Committee On Regulatory Reform - Final Staff Analysis & Economic Impact Statement, Bill # CS/SB 155, Chapter # 88-156. Moreover, it must be assumed that in 1988, when the legislature recommended some changes in Section 489, it must have done so for an intended useful purpose. Additionally, the 1990 amendment of Section 489.129(1) did clearly recognize the relief entitled to the Owners when it added financial restitution to the consumers as one of the penal and disciplinary procedures. It appears that the useful purpose of the Florida Statute Section 489.1195 and 489.129 was to protect the Owners of the construction projects and others like them (the protected class) by making contractors supervise those projects on which they are named as the registered qualifying agents. Enforcement of the performance of such a Statutorily imposed duty is crucial to achieving the intended purpose of the Statute. deny the protected class any power to enforce the statutorily imposed duties would completely bypass the useful purpose of that Statute.

In order to achieve the legislative purpose of Sections 489.1195 and 489.129 of Florida statute, a private cause of action for their violation is implied. The Court in Alles, properly described the consequences of not holding a qualifying agent responsible for the supervision of the project as follows:

"To allow a contractor to be the "qualifying agent"

for a company without placing any requirement on the contractor to exercise any supervision on the company's work done under his license would permit a contractor to loan or rent his license to the company. This would completely circumvent the legislative intent that an individual, certified as competent, be professionally responsible for supervising construction work on jobs requiring a licensed constructor..." Alles v. Department of Professional Regulation, Construction Industry Licensing Board, 423 So. 2d 624 at 626 (Fla. App 5th DCA, 1982).

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