#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

**CASE NUMBER: 81,799** 

THIRD DCA CASE NUMBER: 92-1237

**CIRCUIT COURT CASE NUMBER: 91-36468** 

HALLEGERE (Hall) MURTHY, et al.,

Petitioners,

VŞ.

N. SINHA CORP., etc., et al.

Respondents.

AN APPEAL FROM A DECISION OF THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA, THIRD DISTRICT

#### **RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS**

ADAM TROP, ESQ.
Florida Bar No.:851752
The California Club Office Park
1021 Ives Dairy Road, Suite 111
North Miami Beach, Florida 33179
Phones: (305) 653-8851; 764-6805

### **

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

#### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS**

1. Chapter 489, Florida Statutes, is a regulatory and penal statute which regulates the construction industry by establishing strict licensing and certification procedures and by imposing specific penalties for violations of the rules created by the Chapter. To enforce these rules, the legislature created the Construction Industry Licensing Board which was created specifically to carry out the provisions of the Chapter. §489.107, Florida Statutes. The legislature refused to expressly create a civil cause of action despite the fact that the Chapter has undergone several amendments and reenactments over the years and at one point even contained an express civil right of action against unlicensed contractors. While the Owners assert that a conflict exists between the Third District's position and all of the other districts in the state, the actual intradistrict conflict is limited. Based upon the Third District's analysis and persuasive reasoning, and in the absence of any expressed language or legislative intent to create a private right of action under Chapter 489, the Third District's decision in the case appealed from should be affirmed.

Case Number: 81,799

- 11. Under Florida law, there are several remedies available to property owners who have suffered damages under the circumstances raised in the instant case. Injured property owners may sue in common law against the corporation under a variety of theories and may pursue a statutory cause of action against the corporation for violation of the state minimum building code. In the event the corporation is without assets and was used for improper purposes, the property owner may sue the individual members of the corporation under a "corporate veil" theory. Furthermore, Florida courts are in agreement that the injured property owner may sue the qualifying agent, individually, under a common law theory of negligence. The property owner may also seek redress from the Construction Industry Licensing Board, which has the authority to order the individual contractor to provide financial restitution to a damaged property owner. In light of the variety of remedies available to an injured property owner, it is unnecessary to construe Chapter 489 as creating a private right of action against a qualifying agent.
- III. A corporate entity is an accepted, highly regarded form of business organization whose purpose is generally to limit liability and serve a business convenience.

M:cw:1195Bris.1s 4

Case Number: 81,799

Absent direct statutory authority, the members of a corporation have the right to rely on the rules of law which protect them from personal liability. Roberts Fish Farm v. Spencer, 152 So.2d 718 (Fla. 1963). The Owners' assertion that Chapter 489 should automatically lift the corporate veil so that qualifying agents can be sued individually is contrary to established public policy. While other professionals possess only a limited ability to obtain corporate protection from individual liability, this limitation exists because the legislature expressly enacted Chapter 601, Florida Statutes, for the purpose of granting such individuals limited protection from individual liability. There is no corresponding statute which limits an individual contractor's right to be protected from individual liability; this Court should deny the petitioners' request to construe Chapter 489 as such a device.

IV. As the Third District has held, Chapter 489 is a regulatory and penal statute which does not create a private cause of action against an individual qualifying agent. Contrary to the Owners' assertions, however, this does not limit a property owner's right to pursue a cause of action under the fraudulent lien statute or for a violation of the state minimum building code. Those options are

M:cw:1195Brie.1a 5

Case Number: 81,799

party. In the case before this Court, the construction corporation was the party that filed the construction lien and it was the party that allegedly violated the state minimum building codes. The Owners have not provided any authority to support their assertion that, but for the Third District's position, they would be able to pursue a claim against Mr. Sinha, individually, for filing a fraudulent lien or violating the state minimum building codes.

M:cw:1195Brie.1a 6

#### **ISSUES ON APPEAL**

- I. WHETHER THE FLORIDA LEGISLATURE INTENDED FOR CHAPTER 489, FLORIDA STATUTES, TO PROVIDE A PRIVATE RIGHT OF ACTION AGAINST AN INDIVIDUAL QUALIFYING AGENT.
- II. WHETHER FLORIDA LAW PROVIDES OTHER ADEQUATE REMEDIES TO PROPERTY OWNERS WHO HAVE SUFFERED DAMAGES AS A RESULT OF SUBSTANDARD CONSTRUCTION WORK.
- III. WHETHER, AS A MATTER OF PUBLIC POLICY, CHAPTER 489 SHOULD BE CONSTRUED TO CREATE A PRIVATE RIGHT OF ACTION AGAINST AN INDIVIDUAL QUALIFYING AGENT.
- IV. WHETHER, THE NON-AVAILABILITY OF CHAPTER 489 AS A PRIVATE CAUSE OF ACTION PRECLUDES THE USE OF OTHER DISTINCT STATUTES AND LEGAL THEORIES.

#### **ARGUMENTS**

- I. THE FLORIDA LEGISLATURE DID NOT INTEND FOR CHAPTER 489, FLORIDA STATUTES, TO PROVIDE A PRIVATE RIGHT OF ACTION AGAINST AN INDIVIDUAL QUALIFYING AGENT.
- A. Chapter 489 is Exclusively a Regulatory and Penal Statute.

Chapter 489, Florida Statutes, is a regulatory and penal statute designed to regulate the construction industry in the interest of the public health, safety and welfare. Section 489.101. Florida Statutes, Part I, entitled "Construction Contracting", the relevant part of the section with respect to the instant case, regulates the construction industry by establishing examinations, minimum qualifications and strict application procedures for all persons who wish to become contractors, §489.111, §489.113, Florida Statutes; by requiring certain registration and certification procedures to ensure that only properly licensed contractors engage in construction, §489.117, §489.123-489.125, Florida Statutes; by requiring qualifying agents to apply for permits and supervise construction sites, §489.119, Florida Statutes; and by imposing specific penalties for violations of the rules created by the Chapter. §489.127, §489.129, Florida Statutes.

In furtherance of these goals, the legislature created the Construction Industry

Licensing Board, the members of which are appointed the by the Governor. This Licensing Board was specifically created to carry out the provisions of Chapter 489, Part I. §489.107, Florida Statutes. The Board is specifically empowered to "revoke, suspend or deny the issuance or renewal of the certificate or registration of a contractor, require financial restitution to a consumer, impose an administrative fine not to exceed \$5,000.00, place a contractor on probation, require continuing education, assess costs or reprimand a contractor or qualifying agent if that person violates" a rule specified in the chapter. §489.129, Florida Statutes. In fact, in the case before this Court, the Owners did file a Complaint with the Board, an investigation was properly commenced, and the Board dismissed the Complaint, concluding that there was no violation of Chapter 489 (See Exhibit "A");

Chapter 489 does not in any way create a private right of action against a qualifying agent. The chapter unequivocally states that the Construction Industry Licensing Board was specifically created to carry out provisions of Part I, (§489.107, Florida Statutes), and also provides that the Board shall conduct disciplinary hearings, §489.129(1), Florida Statutes, and impose penalties §489.127(3); §489.129(1), Florida Statutes. There is no evidence within the chapter that a private right of action was ever contemplated. Unless legislative intent "can be inferred from the language

of the statute, the statutory structure, or some other source, the essential predicate for the implication of a private remedy simply does not exist". Thompson v. Thompson 484 US 174, 179, 108 S.Ct.513, 98 L.Ed2d 512 (1988).

In Chapter 489, the Florida Legislature meticulously created a comprehensive set of licensing procedures and regulatory duties, and fashioned specific enforcement mechanisms and penalties for non-compliance. If the legislature had intended to create a statutory civil action, surely it would have done so. In Florida, "legislative intent is determined primarily from the language of the statute..." St. Petersburg Bank and Trust Co. v. Hamm, 414 So.2d 1071, 1073 (Fla. 1982). Courts "are not permitted to attribute to the legislature an intent beyond that expressed or to speculate about what should have been intended." Public Health Trust of Dade County v. Lopez, 531 So.2d 946 (Fla. 1988). This is particularly true in construing penal statutes such as Chapter 489. "(N)othing that is not clearly and intelligently described in its very words, as well as manifestly intended by the legislature, is to be construed as included within its terms..." State v. Wershod, 343 So.2d 605 (Fla. 1977). The Owners are not urging the Court to "merely construe or interpret the (statute) but rather to graft onto it something that is not there" Public Health v. Lopez, 531 So.2d at 949. This is contrary to Florida law. Accordingly, the Respondent

asserts that Chapter 489 does not create a private cause of action against a qualifying agent.

B. There Exists No "Implied" Civil Right of Action Under Chapter 489.

Unable to point to any specific language within the current chapter or legislative history, the Owners assert that a private cause of action under §489.1195 and §489.129, Florida Statutes, is implied. Owner's Brief at page 14-15. Assuming arguendo that there is some ambiguity in the language of Chapter 489, the Court must look to the legislative intent to determine the meaning of the statute. Public Health v. Lopez, 531 So.2d at 949. A review of the legislative history behind Chapter 489, however, reveals no indication that the legislature in any way intended to create a private cause of action against qualifying agents.

Enacted in 1979, Chapter 489 originally did contain a provision which created a private cause of action. Section 489.5331, Florida Statutes (1987), specifically created a civil remedy of treble damages, attorney's fees and costs in a private action against an unlicensed or uncertified contractor under certain circumstances. This section was renumbered and moved in 1988<sup>1</sup>, the same year the legislature added

M:cw:11958rie.1a 11

<sup>1</sup> Moved to \$768.0425, Florida Statutes

§489.1195, Florida Statutes, which pertains to the responsibilities of qualifying agents.

Clearly then, the legislature had considered the applicability of a civil cause of action when it drafted the provisions of Chapter 489. Equally clearly, the legislature displayed that it was quite capable of specifically providing for such a private remedy when it chose to do so. Its refusal to create such a civil action against qualifying agents, therefore, cannot be reasonably interpreted as a mere oversight. Despite several amendments and reenactments over the years, and notwithstanding its clear decision to create a private right of action against unlicensed contractors, the legislature refused to create such an action against qualifying agents. This implies an intention on the part of the legislature not to provide a private right of action against qualifying agents or licensed contractors. Fischer v. Metcalf, 543 So.2d 785, 790 (Fla. 3d DCA 1989) (emphasis in the original).

In Finkle v. Mayerchak, 578 So.2d 396 (Fla. 3d DCA 1991) and in the decision appealed from, Murthy v. N. Sinha Corp., 618. So.2d 307 (Fla. 3d DCA 1993), the Third District held that neither §489.119 nor §489.129 creates a private right of action against qualifying agents. The court arrived at this decision after concluding that there is no evidence of a legislative intent to create such remedy. Finkle v.

M:cw:11958rie.1a 12

Mayerchak, 578 So.2d at 396. While the Third District has noted a conflict with decisions from the First and Fifth Districts, these latter decisions make no mention of legislative intent. Therefore, the Respondent respectfully submits that the legislature did not intend to create a private right of action against qualifying agents under Chapter 489 and that the Third District's ruling in the underlying appeal should be affirmed.

#### C. Limited Conflict Between the District Courts of Appeal.

In certifying a question to this Court, the Third District noted a conflict between its decision and decisions from the First and Fifth Districts.<sup>2</sup> The Owners contend that all of the other district courts of appeal in this state have authored decisions that conflict with the Third District's decisions in <u>Finkle</u> and <u>Murthy</u> (See Owner's Brief at Page 1). Upon a closer review of the case law, however, it appears that the actual conflict between the districts is limited.

The Owners cite Alles v. Department of Professional Regulation, Construction Industry Licensing Board, 423 So.2d 624 (Fla. 5th DCA 1982) and Hunt v.

M:cw:1195Brle.1a 13

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The Murthy Court cited Gatwood v. McGee, 475 So.2d 720 (Fla. 1st DCA, 1985); Hunt v. Department of Professional Regulation, Construction Industry Licensing Board, 444 So.2d 997 (Fla. 1st DCA 1983); Alles v. Department of Professional Regulation, Construction Industry Licensing Board, 423 So.2d 624 (Fla. 5th DCA 1982); Mitchell v. Edge, 598 So.2d 125 (Fla. 2d DCA 1992)(Hall, J., Concurring).

Department of Professional Regulation. Construction Industry Licensing Board, 444
So.2d 997 (Fla. 1st DCA 1983) as cases that conflict with the Third District's decisions in Finkle and Murthy. Both Alles and Hunt, however, were appeals from administrative hearings regarding the revocation of a contractor's license due to his alleged failure to supervise a construction site. Neither case involved a civil action, and both opinions turned on an administrative agency's authority to discipline a contractor due to his violations of Chapter 489. Neither opinion even addressed the issue of a qualifying agent's potential statutory liability under Chapter 489. Thus, the decisions in Alles and Hunt do not conflict with the Third District's position that Chapter 489 does not create a private cause of action against a qualifying agent.

The Owner's also cite Edlin Construction Co., Inc. v. Groh, 522 So.2d 1001 (Fla. 4th DCA 1988), as a case that conflicts with the Third District's holding. Edlin involved a suit by a property owner against the construction corporation that allegedly permitted construction defects to occur on the property site. While the Court questioned whether the qualifying agent had exercised due care in his supervisory position, the Fourth District did not consider holding the qualifying agent personally liable for the alleged defects. The only issued involved was whether the construction corporation would be held liable for the damages based upon the qualifying agent's

M:cw:1195Brie.1e 14

Case Number: 81,799

alleged lack of due care.

The Owners further assert that <u>Mitchell v. Edge</u>, 598 So.2d 125 (Fla. 2d DCA 1992) stands in conflict with the Third District's opinions in <u>Finkle</u> and <u>Murthy</u>. Notwithstanding the concurring opinion, however, the central issue in <u>Mitchell</u> involved whether the property owner's claims against the individual contractor and construction superintendent were barred by collateral estoppel. The majority did not expressly analyze whether the property owners had a private cause of action against the individual qualifying agent pursuant to Chapter 489.

The only case to squarely hold that a property owner has a private cause of action against a qualifying agent based upon a breach of the qualifying agent's statutorily imposed duty to supervise is <u>Gatwood v. McGee</u>, 475 So.2d 720 (Fla. 1st DCA 1985). The <u>Gatwood</u> Court, however, conducted no analysis of the legislative intent behind Chapter 489, nor did it cite any particular section in support of its determination that Chapter 489 is something more than a "regulatory apparatus". <u>Gatwood</u> at 724.

In contrast, the Third District in <u>Finkle v. Mayerchak</u>, 578 So.2d 396 (Fla. 3d DCA 1991) reviewed the legislative history behind the statute. <u>Finkle</u> at 397. The Court expressly concluded that "there is no evidence here of a legislative intent to

15

Case Number: 81,799

Third District held that Florida Statutes, §489.119 and §489.129 are regulatory and penal statutes and thus do not create a private cause of action against an individual qualifier for a construction corporation.

In light of the Third District's analysis and persuasive reasoning, and in the absence of any express language or evidence of legislative intent to create a private right of action under Chapter 489, the respondent respectfully submits that the Third District's decision in the case appealed from should be affirmed.

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